
PISA for development Strand C 
Questions/Answers 

 
1. Please confirm that it is not the Strand C Contractor’s responsibility to recruit or manage 

interviewers for the main study or field trial, and that the bidders do not have to provide costs for 
fieldwork in the main study or field trial 

  
Correct, we confirm that it is not the Strand C Contractor’s responsibility to recruit or manage 
interviewers for the main study or field trial, and that the bidders do not have to provide costs for 
fieldwork in the main study or field trial. These are the responsibilities of the National Centres. 
  
2. If bidders want to recommend a pre-field trial pilot study, e.g. to test interview length, is it the 

bidders’ responsibility to obtain quotes for this fieldwork, identify possible fieldwork suppliers in 
the participating countries and present the credentials of these suppliers? 

  
Correct, the pre-field trial pilot study would be responsibility of the contractors, not the countries.  
Usually countries can help and support, but the responsibility lies with the contractors. 
  
3. Please provide guidance on how to cost for the input of the various expert groups (paragraph 

181), either by providing a typical cost of a single meeting or by providing information about the 
number of members of each group and their remuneration rates. 

  
The expert groups are usually 6-8 people. Normally the Members of these groups would receive an 
honorarium of EUR 500 per day plus of course per diem, travel etc. However, rates paid by various 
contractors for other expert groups vary.   You would also need to factor in other meeting costs, such 
as room hire if necessary, etc.). 
  
4. Do bidders need to provide costs for the development of both pen and paper and computer-

assisted delivery of interviews and tests? If yes, is it the bidders’ responsibility to identify 
organisations which are capable of developing a suitable software platform and to obtain quotes 
from them? 

  
Test design and development is part of the bidder’s proposal. Bidders can choose in this case if they 
want to provide only paper, only computer or both. The development of the software platform is part of 
test development and if a bidder chooses computer delivery this aspect would have to be included in 
the proposal.  
  
5. Paragraph 100 states that it is expected that Strand C will involve tablet-based delivery mode, but 

that Strands A and B are both pen and paper based. Can OECD provide information about why 
Strands A and B are both pen and paper based, and the rationale for expecting Strand C to have 
computer-assisted administration? 

  
Strands A and B are paper and pencil because computer-based delivery is not feasible in the school 
setting in the participating countries. The rationale for considering computer-based delivery in strand 
C is that this strand will involve the use of screening and a modular structure which is better suited for 
tablet-based delivery, especially given that the Strand C assessment is a household survey and will 
involve a smaller sample than in Strand A and B. The possibility of testing in multiple languages also 
provides arguments in favour of a computer-based delivery – Strands A and B will use only one 
language in each country.  
  
6. There are obvious advantages and disadvantages to each of these administration methods. 

Which factors are likely to have the greatest impact on the choice of computer-assisted versus 
pen and paper administration? 

  
There are at least two key factors: 1) greater relevance, validity and accuracy in the measurement of 
cognitive skills and contextual information, 2) Operational and implementation costs at the individual 
country level. 
  
7. Is it possible that some countries in Strand C will use pen and paper while others will use 

computer-assisted administration, or will a single solution be selected? 



  
We anticipate a single solution. Not all countries in PISA for Development will choose to participate in 
Strand C, we anticipate three countries taking part in Strand C and thus we would aim to agree with 
these countries a single solution.  
  
8. We assume the NPMs have to be closely involved in the choice of computer-assisted versus pen 

and paper delivery of the survey because of all the practical issues arising from this choice such 
as the need to procure suitable computers. How quickly will it be feasible to consult them on this 
and gain a decision on which is to be used?  

  
The OECD will work closely with countries and other partners in PISA for Development to choose the 
best bid for Strand C. 
  
  
9. If pen and paper data collection is used, data entry software will be required. Are Contractors 

required to create or select suitable data entry software, or to get involved in NPMs’ decisions on 
this issue? 

  
Strand C will use data collection systems and software similar to those use in PISA and Strands A 
and B. 
  
10. Are the contractors for Strand A proposing any tests which involve respondents in listening to 

items rather than reading them? If so, how are the “aural” items being delivered to respondents? 
  
Strand A is paper based and there are no “aural” items. There is no new item development in Strand 
A. 
  
11. Are the contractors for Strand A proposing any tests which involve respondents in giving spoken 

rather than written responses? If so, how are the spoken responses being captured? 
  
No. 
  
12. In para 50 you say that the rationale for countries participating includes: 

 “Benefit from international bench-marking of their education system; 

 Benefit from learning assessment results which better describe the levels of proficiency within 
a broad set of country contexts (especially at the lower end)” 

Are there sufficient items in the item bank at the lower end of the scale to reliably benchmark 
using IRT etc.?" 

  
Yes. Beyond already developed PISA items (including reading components), Strand A may bring 
items already developed in other tests (PIAAC, LAMP, STEP, etc.) as well as those developed in 
PISA for Schools.  
  
13. Are the sample sizes mentioned in paragraph 104 the numbers of interviews to be carried out with 

15 year olds in the survey, or are they the numbers of responses to individual items in cognitive 
assessments?  

  
To individual items in cognitive assessments. 
  
14. Mention is made of possibly extending the scope of the Strand C survey to 14 to 16 year olds. Are 

we right in thinking there are no current proposals to extend Strands A and B to 14 to 16 year 
olds? May this be an option in the future? 

  
Correct, there are no current proposals to extend Strands A and B to 14 and 16 year olds. It is hard to 
say if this will be an option in the future or not, but for the moment and the foreseeable future PISA’s 
target age range will remain 15 year-olds. 
  
15. Paragraph 121 asks the bidder to identify “a more efficient alternative” to a two-stage screening 

and interviewing process. Is this saying that the two-stage process should not be recommended 



by bidders? Can bidders demonstrate how the two-stage process is more efficient (if they believe 
this to be the case)? 

  
Yes, bidders can demonstrate how the two-stage process is more efficient or propose one that the 
bidder considers as more efficient. 
  
16. In order to establish which individuals with relevant skills are not available to be part of bidder 

teams, it would be very helpful to know the membership of the expert groups and the identity of 
the  “supplementary” members of the TAG referred to in paragraph 23 

  
At this point we do not have these names. We will be happy to supply them to you as soon as 
possible. 
  
17. Similarly, can we be told who the national contacts working with the Strand A and B contractors 

are? 
  
The national contacts are the national centres and NPMs identified by each country. You can find a 
list of them by clicking here: http://www.oecd.org/pisa/aboutpisa/pisa-for-development-participating-
countries.htm 
             
18. Who are the NPMs for Ecuador and Zambia? 
  
Please see question 17 above. 
  
19. When will NPMs be appointed for Cambodia and Paraguay? 
  
They have already been appointed. Please see question 17 above. 
  
20. Can we have sight of (any of) the PIPs? Even one would help give us an idea of the available 

infrastructure in practice.  
  
PIPs are a project management tool for the countries. The OECD will not be publishing them. You 
would need to contact countries directly and they may or may not make those available to you. You 
may get most of the information you are looking for from CNAs and CBPs, which are available on the 
PISA for Development website.  
  
21. The draft timetable included as Annex B with the tender documentation is clearly out of date 

already – can any more up to date information be provided about the timings of any of the 
strands? When is it now anticipated that the cognitive assessments for Strand A and the 
contextual questionnaires for Strand B will be available in draft form to inform Strand C, and when 
is it anticipated that they will be finalised? 

  
Please find the integrated timeline for Strands A and B attached.  
  
22. How long should bidders allow for the NPMs to examine cognitive assessment items and 

contextual questions not included in Strand A or B and determine whether/how these should be 
adapted to the national context and get them translated? If no guideline is possible, can the team 
say from experience how long this typically takes? 

  
Typically any consultation should give NPMs at least two weeks to react. In many cases, NPM 
meetings will be organised to present important information to NPMs, discuss it and receive their 
feedback. Documents for NPMs meetings are circulated at least two weeks in advance of the 
meeting. 
  
23. Please confirm the expected timeframe for the total length of the interview and component parts 

(contextual qre and cognitive assessments) as different lengths are quoted in different sections of 
the ITT 

  
This will be part of the design proposed by the bidder, but we do not expect the whole assessment to 
take more than one hour and a half. We anticipate the cognitive assessment will not take more than 

http://www.oecd.org/pisa/aboutpisa/pisa-for-development-participating-countries.htm
http://www.oecd.org/pisa/aboutpisa/pisa-for-development-participating-countries.htm


one hour (preferably 50-55 minutes) and the questionnaire will not take more than half an hour (25-30 
minutes).  
  
24. Will there be scope for contractors to be present at/observe the in-country training provided by 

NPMs to data collection staff and other national staff? 
  
Yes, as long as contractors and countries can agree on it. 
  
25. Will there be scope for contractors to observe live data collection and other procedures in the field 

trial? 
  
Yes, as long as contractors and countries can agree on it. 
  
26. The ITT mentions in paragraph 42ii “testing if an assessment of out of school 15 year olds can be 

undertaken using a household survey methodology at reasonable costs”. For comparison 
purposes, is any information available about the typical cost of an in-school PISA interview and 
assessment? 

  
No, these costs are not available. 
  
27. Paragraph 55 talks about reading in the language of instruction. Those who have never been to 

school may never have been exposed to the language or language/s of instruction in their 
country. Is it proposed that their reading abilities should be tested only in the language/s of 
instruction in their country, or is this issue open to debate with the countries? Similarly is it 
proposed that their abilities in mathematics and science should only be tested through the 
language/s of instruction in their country? 

  
No, Strand C will use multiple official languages, the number will vary across countries and be agreed 
with the countries. 
  
28. Some kind of screening procedure will be required to determine whether the 15 year olds are 

capable of taking part in the cognitive assessments, i.e. do not have any impairments which 
would make it impossible for them to do so. Are bidders required to propose such a procedure 
and will contractors be required to negotiate this with the countries? Is there an equivalent 
screening process for Strand A or in the main PISA study and if so, what are the criteria used 
(where are these documented)? 

  
A similar procedure was used in PIAAC and you can find more information on the PIAAC technical 
report. 
  
29. Can OECD confirm that informal settlements/slums will be excluded from the sampling frames for 

the countries involved in Strand C? 
  
Countries will choose their samples for Strand C in consultation with the contractor, but in any case, 
the expectation is that these samples will not be nationally representative of the out of school 15 year 
old population. 


